IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. SC95674 L.T. Case Nos. 97-2791 & 97-2861 (Consolidated)

LAS OLAS TOWER COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER LAS OLAS TOWER COMPANY

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq. Elliot H. Scherker, Esq. Greenberg Traurig, P.A. 1221 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 579-0500 Facsimile: (305) 579-0723

Richard G. Coker, Esq. Brady & Coker

501 N.E. 8th Street

Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33304 Telephone: (954) 761-1404

Facsimile: (954) 761-1489

Counsel for Las Olas Tower Company

INTRODUCTION

The Court accepted the decision of the Fourth District in this case — *Las* Olas Tower Co. v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 742 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) — for review on the basis of an asserted conflict with *Haines City Community* Development v. Heggs, 658 So. 2d 523 (Fla. 1995). The conflict is posed because the Fourth District did not limit itself to the strictures of *Haines City*, or the Court's requirement that reversal is only available to rectify a "miscarriage of justice," when the Fourth District exercised second-level certiorari jurisdiction to review a circuit court decision which had reviewed the administrative action of the City of Fort Lauderdale on first-level certiorari.

This case began with the City's denial of a site plan presented by Las Olas for a high-rise residential unit in a special zoning district which the City had created for the specific purpose of inducing the development of high-rise residential units in the district. A second site plan offered by Las Olas, scaled down to meet City objections after the first plan had been rejected, met all requirements of the zoning ordinance (including one which required a minimum 12-foot setback). The City nonetheless denied approval, grounding its action (among other reasons) on a finding that the minimum setback was insufficient for Las Olas' proposed building, although no greater setback had been specified by the City for the project.

On first-level certiorari review in circuit court, the City argued that its Planning and Zoning Board (P&Z Board) had discretion under the ordinance to require a setback in excess of 12 feet, and that something greater than 12 feet was necessary for the Las Olas project. Las Olas pointed out that the P&Z Board had never prescribed a setback requirement in excess of 12 feet, and had never advised Las Olas what setback greater than 12 feet would be acceptable. The circuit court found that the denial of approval under these circumstances — admitted compliance

with all requirements of the ordinance, and a failure of the P&Z Board to establish a setback greater than 12 feet or to notify Las Olas what would be acceptable — constituted a departure from the essential requirements of law.

On second-level certiorari review, the Fourth District overturned the circuit court's ruling, although it acknowledged that it was not unreasonable to require that the City exercise its setback-setting discretion *before* serially rejecting site plans. The district court made no determination that the circuit court's decision — requiring only advance notice of the standards for applying an ordinance — resulted in a miscarriage of justice.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

1. The Fort Lauderdale ordinances.

In 1970, the City Commission adopted Section 47-33 of the City Code to establish a "Central Business District" ("CBD") in downtown Fort Lauderdale. (LOT App. 1:26). The CBD is an "overlay" district that supersedes restrictions, otherwise applicable within a zoning district, with respect to height restrictions and dwelling units in excess of the density permitted by the applicable zoning regulations. Section 47-33(1), City Code.

1

The CBD's original eastern boundary was Federal Highway. (LOT App. 1:26). In 1985, when the CBD was sparsely populated,

² the eastern border was expanded to include an area east of Federal Highway and

Las Olas' entitlement to additional units was not an issue before the circuit court or the Fourth District.

The 1980 census showed only 100 residents in the district. (LOT App. 1:34 at 69).

north of the New River "[i]n order to encourage the construction of high-density residential structures in the area immediately surrounding the redeveloping downtown." (LOT App. 1:28-29). The enlargement of the CBD was adopted by the City to

foster increased activity downtown, particularly after business hours, by attracting high-density residential development and possibly hotels to complement the extensive office and cultural projects recently completed and underway

LOT App. 1:29 (emphasis added).

Las Olas' property and proposed high-rise residential unit are located within the area that was added to the CBD in 1985:

(LOT App. 1:7; LOT App. 1:34 at 69). The City Commission was fully aware, when it moved the border to the east of Federal Highway, that the expansion area which includes the Las Olas site would be attractive to developers, having considered concerns about the eastern boundary and actually adjusted that border

in part to address the impact of high-rise expansion on adjacent neighborhoods. (LOT App. 1:29).

3

As enacted in 1970, Section 47-33 provided for a minimum setback of 20 feet for residential buildings in the CBD, and a density limitation of 100 residential units per net acre. (LOT App. 1:27). In 1985, Section 47-33 was rewritten to continue the exemption from otherwise-applicable height restrictions, to eliminate the minimum setback requirement, and to authorize additional dwelling units in the CBD over and above density requirements of otherwise-applicable zoning regulations. (LOT App. 1:28).

Recognizing that the abolition of setback requirements deprived it of the power to require *any* setbacks in the CBD after the 1985 amendments, the Commission undertook consideration of a new section within Chapter 47 "to establish minimum setbacks" within the CBD in conjunction with "a comprehensive evaluation and restructuring of CBD zoning." (LOT App. 1:31). Pending that process, it was decided that "some measures need to be taken to require setbacks on an interim basis to assure desirable development within the Downtown," and staff

recommended a 12-foot minimum as "a bench mark" which was "much more" than was then being used within the CBD. *Id*.

In considering the proposed ordinance in 1985, the Commission agreed that

The City staff and the City Commission were responsive to the recommendation of the residential Holiday/Victoria Park Civic Association that a portion of the originally-proposed eastern boundary to the north of the Las Olas site be moved back to Federal Highway. (LOT App. 1:29). The CBD boundary adopted by the city accommodates the Associations' recommendation. Section 47-33(2), City Code.

"setback requirements should be incorporated into [a] comprehensive restructuring of our zoning ordinances" because the "CBD is the only sector of the City that currently has no setback requirements." (LOT App. 1:32). The Commission decided to "adopt some setback requirements on an interim basis to assure desirable development within the downtown," and at staff's request granted a one-year period within which to accomplish the setback re-evaluation. (LOT App. 1:32).

4

In 1986, the Commission adopted Section 47-33.1 of the City Code to establish threshold setback requirements within the CBD, which section provides that:

Despite the provisions of section 47-33 . . . there shall be a minimum twelve-foot setback for any structure erected in the central business district.

Section 47-33.1(a)(1)-(4), City Code. Section 47-33.1-33.1-33.1(b)§ 47-33.1(b), City of Fort Lauderdale Code-33.1(b)-33.1(d)§ 47-33.1(d), City of Fort Lauderdale Code *Company v. City of Ft. Lauderdale*, 742 So. 2d at 313-14. Tower I issues are not before the Court in this proceeding.

Following the adverse ruling on Tower I by the P&Z Board, Las Olas submitted an application for setback approval of a second, scaled-down, proposed residential building of 32-stories (Tower II). (LOT App. 2:1). In addressing the P&Z Board with its new application, Las Olas explained that it had taken "very seriously" the comments of the public and Board members on their "major areas of concern: the height of the residential tower, [and] the setbacks from the New

The one-year deadline for revamping downtown zoning ordinances was not met. (LOT App. 1:35-37).

River," and that the revised plan addressed each of those concerns "significantly." (LOT App. 2:1 at 1).

Las Olas had learned that the City had approved two other projects: the Grand Pavilion for 41 stories at a height of 470 feet; and Riverwalk Place for 25 stories at a height of 251 feet. (LOT App. 1:2-A at 4; LOT App. 1:4). It reduced Tower II from a 445-foot high, 45-story building to a 325-foot high, 32-story building (LOT App. 2:1 at 1-2; LOT App. 2:2), making it smaller than the two tallest buildings within the same CBD boundary in Fort Lauderdale — the 396-foot high 110 Tower, and the NationsBank building. (LOT App. 1:2-A at 4; LOT App. 1:7; LOT App. 1:8).

Las Olas was also aware that setbacks from the New River for the five buildings that surround the Las Olas site ranged from 10 to 20 feet. (LOT App. 1:4). It increased the setback for Tower II to a minimum of 50 feet from any point along the New River. (LOT App. 2:1 at 1-2; LOT App. 2:2; LOT App. 2:3 at 1).

5

In reviewing the application for Tower II, the City's staff took the position that "a tower of this height at this *location*, is undesirable at any setback." (LOT App. 2:3) (original emphasis). The City's staff believed the City could deny setback approval upon a determination that otherwise-sufficient setbacks are "insufficient

Outside the CBD boundaries — *i.e.*, in zoning districts that impose height restrictions, and further east along the Intracoastal — the City has approved three high-rise residential projects with setbacks ranging from 10 to 20 feet from the Intracoastal. (LOT App. 1:4).

for a structure of this height" because "[t]he height, size, and character of the proposed project is not compatible with the immediate neighborhood or the neighborhood across the New River." *Id.* at 8.

At the P&Z Board hearing, the City's staff acknowledged that Tower II met all existing requirements of the Fort Lauderdale zoning ordinance. (LOT App. 2:5 at 16-17). Staff nonetheless opposed the application for Tower II, basing its objections on unadopted goals and objectives in the City's master plan for future land use regulations which included a proposed re-classification of the CBD into an "Urban Core" and a "Central Urban Core." (LOT App. 1:10 at 98-99; LOT App. 1:15 at 29-30).

The P&Z Board nonetheless accepted the City's unadopted, aspirational provisions as a basis to deny the Las Olas application for Tower II. (LOT App. 2:7 at 131-43). Board member Chappell voted against Las Olas with the observation that "our true Central Business District is to the west of U.S. 1." (LOT App. 2:7 at 131). Board member Hubert stated his assumption that "there would always be some kind of scaling down from the high intensity of the mid portion of the Central Business District down into the residential neighborhoods of which this proposed project is located." (LOT App. 2:7 at 134). Board member Hubert relied on the non-existent "scaling down requirement." (LOT App. 2:7 at 134). Board member Sanders believed the Board should look to "land use policies, goals and objectives" although he recognized there "may not [be] . . . a zoning ordinance to reflect that."

Las Olas repeatedly objected to the staff's reliance on future objectives and unadopted studies to displace the plain language of the CBD ordinances. (LOT App. 1:10 at 112-13, 117; LOT App. 1:15 at 15-16; LOT App. 2:7 at 64-65, 98, 100).

(LOT App. 2:7 at 143).

The City Commission utilized the same non-ordinance aspirations for future land use development to deny Las Olas' application. (LOT App. 2:8 at 49, 50-51, 59-60). Commissioner Aurelius summarized the position of the Commission, stating:

It hurts me — and I mean this sincerely . . . to say that I have to agree with the Planning and Zoning Board. [The Las Olas project is] just not right and

What is it somebody in the Supreme Court said: I can't define pornography but if I see it, I can tell you. Something like that. Well, I can't define what's wrong with this location exactly but it's just not right, so I have to agree with the Planning and Zoning Board.

(LOT App. 2:8 at 58-59).

3. The circuit court's decision.

On first-level certiorari in circuit court, Las Olas argued that the City had failed to comply with its own ordinances and erroneously relied on unadopted, aspirational provisions of its master plan. (LOT App. 2:9 at 15-30). The City acknowledged that its staff had relied on policies and unadopted studies in recommending denial of Las Olas' application (City App. 8 at 36), but it argued in support of the City's denial that setback requirements were not met because the P&Z Board had discretion to require something in excess of the 12-foot minimum (and inferentially more than Las Olas' actual 50-foot setback for the proposed 32-story building):

[Y]ou could write [the ordinance] so that it has that 12 feet like we do on the front street setback, but you can see that there's a modicum of discretion that's injected in it. The Board can ask for more. But

they've done with regard to Tower Two is that they've designed it to the very minimum standard.

. . . I would submit to you that something as large as this needs something more than the absolute minimum. We get down to a smaller structure of ten stories, seven stories, and it might be more appropriate to talk in terms of minimum.

(LOT App. 2:10 at 153).

The circuit court found that Tower II "has met the minimum setback requirements," and agreed that "the City can require more than the minimum setbacks." (City App. 1 at 9). It concluded, however, that the City had departed from the essential requirements of law by failing to exercise its setback-setting discretion and by failing to give Las Olas notice of any increased setback requirement:

[T]he fatal flaw in the City's argument is that the City never exercised any of the discretion allowed under sections 47-33.1(a) or (b) before denying LOT's application. Only after LOT had gone back to the drawing board twice did the City inform LOT that their plans did not conform to the code requirements The City could have accomplished its goal to have Tower Two scaled down . . . by notifying LOT that the City was modifying the setback requirements for Tower Two. However, because the City never modified the setback requirements in time for LOT to act upon them, it was departing from the essential requirements of law when it denied LOT's application for setback approval.

(City App. 1 at 10).

4. The district court's decision.

On second-level certiorari, the Fourth District stated that it understood the circuit court's decision

to mean that in order for the City to exercise properly the discretion afforded it by the ordinance, the City or its appropriate agency had a duty to inform LOT what setbacks it would find acceptable before LOT went to the trouble of revising plans only to have them rejected.

Las Olas Tower Co. v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 742 So. 2d at 314. It then held that

the determination of whether to modify setback requirements, or to condition approval of setbacks by imposing requirements in excess of the minimums, cannot be made until the development plan is submitted and the various criteria applicable thereto considered. The criteria to be considered is [sic] not discretionary but is [sic] legislatively mandated. Discretion is involved, however, in determining whether a particular criterion requires or justifies some modification of the setback. The exercise of that discretion is neither unfettered nor freely subjected to whim or caprice, as there is a clear appeal and review process through which abuse of discretion can be overcome.

The issue here . . . [is] whether the City had a duty to notify a developer what would be required in order to avoid denial of approval of a development plan. We find no language in the ordinance requiring that such be done

Id. at 314-15.

⁷ On that basis, the court held that the circuit court "failed to apply the correct law." *Id.* at 315.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District applied a manifestly-erroneous standard of review in passing on the City's petition and quashing the circuit court's decision. On second-

The court also suggested that "the issue is moot" because a member of the City's planning staff had met with Las Olas and had outlined with a reasonable degree of specificity what the developer needed to do in order to obtain site plan approval. *Id.* at 315.

level certiorari, this Court's decision in *Haines City* imposes sharply-drawn constraints on the district courts of appeal. So far as is relevant here, the district court's inquiry is limited to the question of whether the circuit court applied the correct law — meaning that reversal is warranted only if the circuit court's decision wrought a "gross miscarriage of justice." The Fourth District did not confine itself to that standard of review.

The circuit court rendered an unremarkable and fully supportable decision which construes the City's ordinance for the CBD to forbid the imposition of site plan requirements on an ad hoc retroactive basis, without giving a property owner any prior notice of the requirements which have to be met. Saving the ordinance from constitutional challenge — as is undeniably the duty of the courts — the circuit court construed the City's ordinance as requiring the same notice to landowners whose property lies along the New River as is extended to *other* property owners within the CBD. The court applied the well-established principle that an ordinance cannot grant arbitrary and unfettered authority to a municipality to deny a zoning application on a standardless *ad hoc* basis, and then held that without any prior notice requirement the ordinance would implicate serious constitutional issues. The circuit court's interpretation of the ordinance, which even the Fourth District recognized as not "unreasonable," simply requires the City to apply its zoning ordinances evenhandedly throughout the CBD. When that decision is examined through the *proper* perspective — *i.e.*, applying the correct second-level certiorari review standard of a gross miscarriage of justice — no error conceivably can be found therein.

The Fourth District overstepped the narrow boundary of its review function by granting relief to the City simply because it disagreed with the circuit court's

entirely-reasonable and precedent-compelled construction of the City's governing ordinance. The circuit court had carefully performed its function on first-level certiorari by granting relief to Las Olas on a finding that the arbitrary, *ad hoc* and standardless proceedings conducted by the City departed from the essential requirements of law. This Court's plainly-stated intention to *narrow* the scope of review as administrative cases travel further up the judicial ladder was simply ignored by the Fourth District.

ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fourth District begins with an acknowledgement that its certiorari review was limited by *Haines City* to "whether procedural due process has been afforded and whether there has been application of the correct law," and it notes that only the latter issue was presented by the parties as an issue in this case. *Las Olas Tower Co. v. City of Fort Lauderdale*, 742 So. 2d at 310. This identification of the standard for second-level certiorari review is an accurate restatement of the *Haines City* formulation.

In *applying* that standard, however, the court departed from the narrow role which this Court has prescribed for second level certiorari review, and lapsed into the more expansive review mode which the Court has expressly condemned.

⁸ A brief history of the "application of correct law" standard for second-level

Prior to its decision in this case, the Fourth District had demonstrated a willingness to expand second-level certiorari review to the point of being coextensive with first-level certiorari review. In *City of Dania v. Florida Power & Light*, 718 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 4th DCA), *review granted*, 727 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 1998), the court held that it could re-examine evidence submitted to the administrative tribunal and determine if the administrative tribunal's decision was supported by competent substantial evidence. After the decision in this case, however, the district court receded from its *City of Dania* decision in (continued...)

certiorari will set the stage for exposing the district court's misapplication of the second-level standard.

1. The second-level certiorari standard established by the Court.

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