IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC95674 L.T. Case Nos. 97-2791 & 97-2861 (Consolidated)

LAS OLAS TOWER COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

DENNIS E. LYLES, CITY ATTORNEY BY: ROBERT B. DUNCKEL, ASST. CITY ATTORNEY Florida Bar No. 246557 CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE P.O. Drawer 14250

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302-4250

Telephone: (954) 761-5036 Facsimile: (954) 761-5915

Attorneys for Respondent CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court granted certiorari and quashed the order of the circuit court.

The circuit court in construing the underlying zoning ordinance, effectively re-wrote it,

thereby transforming into a mandatory obligation that which had been written as a discretionary function. The circuit court was requiring that the P&Z Board exercise its discretion and inform LOT as to what setbacks it would approve the development plan, prior to announcing that it had denied approval to the proposed development plan. In doing so the district court, following *Haines City Community Development v. Heggs*, 658 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1995) utilized a standard of review predicated on the "applied the correct law" standard announced in *Education Development Center, Inc. v. City of West Palm Beach*, 541 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1989) and *City of Deerfield Beach v. Vaillant*, 419 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1982).

CITY contends that the district court's application of the "applied the correct law" standard of review, under the circumstances of the case at bar, was the appropriate standard of review. CITY holds out for review a series of cases flowing from quasi-judicial tribunals in which the "applied the correct law" standard was utilized where "errors" are of no greater magnitude than herein.

LOT applies an inflexible singular rule of "gross miscarriage of justice" in arguing the district court exceeded its scope of review. CITY subscribes to a more flexible rule which requires the exercise of discretion on the part of the district court as it draws new lines determining which errors are of sufficient magnitude to merit the additional level of review.

Over the years the enunciated standards are many and varied. A review of those standards contrasted with the errors committed by the circuit court below demonstrate how the district court's scope of review is within the discretionary limits suggested by *Heggs*, supra. The circuit court lacked jurisdiction and authority to re-write an ordinance that was clear and unambiguous on its face. It violated one of our most fundamental constitutional principles -- separation of power -- when it invaded the legislative province in re-writing the ordinance substituting its judgment for that of the legislative body. In its constructive redraft of the ordinance, the circuit court presumed the ordinance's invalidity while the law carries a contrary presumption of validity, until declared invalid beyond a reasonable doubt.

The underlying invalidity which it sought to cure was that of vague standards. The issue of the constitutional validity of the ordinance had been left on the table for later review in Count VI of the Complaint, upon which the court retained jurisdiction. This was a procedural irregularity for which discretionary certiorari has traditionally been entertained. There was ample law upholding the standard of *compatibility* upon which the underlying ordinance is based.

Upon this basis CITY urges that the scope of review employed by the district court herein was eminently correct.

ARGUMENT

In Las Olas Tower Company v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 742 So.2d 308 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) the district court started its second level certiorari review of the circuit court's order by articulating the standard of review from Haines City Community Development v. Heggs, 658 So.2d 523 (1995): (i) whether procedural due process had been afforded and (ii) whether there had been an application of the correct law. In this case the key inquiry was whether the correct law had been applied.

The circuit court had found that the P&Z Board and CITY had departed from the essential requirements of the law when, "before denying LOT's application" [2 CITY App. 1:10] it failed to exercise its discretion to inform LOT what setbacks it would find acceptable or, alternatively, to approve the development plan conditioned on a number of modifications. *Id*.

CITY Code § 47-33.1 requires that no structure be erected within the CBD "unless a development plan . . . shall have been reviewed and approved by the planing director" applying the standards and criteria in § 47-33.1 and the DRC Ordinance, §47-59. [1 CITY App. 2 & 3]. The CITY Code provides that the

"director *may* condition approval of the setbacks of a development plan" by imposing setbacks that exceed the minimum. CITY Code § 47-33.1(b). [1 CITY App. 2]. Because this project is located on New River, review and approval of the development plan is the responsibility of the P&Z Board. CITY Code § 47-33.1(d).

The district court crystallized the issue as "whether the City had a duty to notify a developer what would be required in order to avoid a denial of approval of a development plan." *Las Olas Tower*, at 315. Against arguments that the lower court assumed the legislative prerogative of re-writing the legislation, thereby transforming a discretionary function of the Board into a mandatory obligation, the district court found "no language in the ordinance requiring that such be done." *Id.* at 315.

The district court also found that the CITY staff⁵ met with LOT representatives at the site prior to its submission of Tower II to the P&Z Board and outlined "with a reasonable degree of specificity" what was needed to obtain site approval. *Id.* at 314. In so finding, the district court followed *Heggs* and *Education Development Center, Inc. v. City of West Palm Beach*, 541 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1989) (*EDC*) when it found the lower court "failed to apply the correct law." *Las Olas*

⁵ The record reveals that it was the Planning Director. [2 LOT App. 7:119-120].

Tower, at 314.

1. Overview of *Heggs*, *Combs* and *EDC*.

In *Heggs* the Supreme Court had before it a certified question of whether, after *EDC* does the *Combs v. State*, 436 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1983) standard of review still govern a district court in its review of a circuit court order acting in its review capacity over a county court? The certified question was answered in the affirmative, "holding that the standards of review in *Combs* and *Educational Development Center* are the same." *Heggs*, at 525.

The *Heggs* analysis starts with an historical overview of certiorari identifying it as a discretionary writ addressing whether the lower court had "exceeded its jurisdiction" or "not proceeded according to law" *Id.* at 525 citing *Basnet v. City of Jacksonville*, 18 Fla. 523 (1882) as an opinion "which retains its currency and whose clarity remains a hallmark." *Heggs* at 525. *Heggs* also refers to *Jacksonville*, *T. & K.W. Railway Co. v. Boy*, 34 Fla. 389, 393, 16 So. 290, 291 (1894) as setting the standard for review with "exceeded its jurisdiction" criteria as well as "methods unknown to law" or "essential irregularity in procedure." *Heggs* at 525.

Although CITY is not unmindful that second level certiorari review should not be used as a second appeal to correct merely erroneous conclusions, CITY

"methods unknown to law" when it assumed the mantle of legislative powers in rewriting the underlying ordinance. There was an "essential irregularity in procedure" when the lower court apparently *presumed* the ordinance unconstitutional and proceeded to re-write the legislation to "save the CITY from its folly" when jurisdiction had been retained (and the question never litigated) in Count VI to test the constitutionality of the ordinance as against allegations of vagueness and lack of standards. It follows therefore that the district court utilized the correct standard of review in accordance with *Heggs, Basnet* and *Jacksonville, T. & K.W. Railway Co., supra.*

Heggs proceeded to analyze Combs, supra which involved a county court conviction for driving while intoxicated. The Defendant objected to certain testimony on the grounds it was privileged relative to his duty to make an accident report. The objections were overruled by the county court. The circuit court affirmed the county court upholding the conviction. The district court of appeal denied certiorari review on the basis that certiorari was not available to review errors of law made by a circuit judge sitting in review of county court judgments and that certiorari was only available for violations of due process which effectively denied review "such as the circuit court judge rendering a decision without allowing

briefs to be filed and considered." *Combs* at 94. The Supreme Court found the district court had taken too narrow a view of second level certiorari review. CITY contends that re-writing the ordinance because of a presumed invalidity while Count VI remained open is an error, the magnitude of which is akin to a circuit judge rendering a decision without allowing briefs to be filed.

The *Combs* court indicated that district courts should conduct second level certiorari review not only where there are violations that (i) "effectively deny appellate review" or (ii) "which pertain to regularity of procedure" but should also conduct second level certiorari review where (iii) there has been a "violation of clearly established principle of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice." *Combs* at 95-96.

Because it is impossible to list all the legal errors serious enough for this second level certiorari review, the *Combs* court indicated the district courts should be granted "a *large degree of discretion* so that they may judge *each case individually*." *Combs*, at 95 (emphasis supplied). This discretion should be used "cautiously" to avoid a second level certiorari review as a vehicle for a second appeal. *Id*.

The *Heggs* court next proceeded to discuss *EDC*, supra. *EDC* like *Las Olas Tower*, supra, starts as a quasi-judicial proceeding in an application to the Zoning

Board of Appeals to convert a residential property to a private preschool. The circuit court on certiorari review quashed the Board's decision. The district court granted certiorari quashing the circuit court's order on the basis that it had applied an incorrect legal standard in its review of competent substantial evidence. On remand, the circuit court found the Board's decision was not supported by competent substantial evidence and therefore quashed the Board's order. On appeal the district court granted certiorari and quashed the circuit court's order on the basis that the circuit court either reinterpreted the inferences or reweighed the evidence. The Supreme Court found the district court exceeded its scope of review, reaffirming City of Deerfield Beach v. Vaillant, 419 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1982) as "clearly setting forth" that the proper standard of review for a second level certiorari review of a quasi-judicial proceeding as whether the circuit court afforded due process and whether "it applied the correct law." *Vaillant* at 626; *EDC* at 107. The *EDC* court held "the principles expressed by the court in *Vaillant* clearly define the standards of review applicable here." *EDC*, at 107 (emphasis supplied).

In comparing *Combs* and *EDC*, the *Heggs* court announced that when the standards are reduced to their core, "they appear to be the same." *Heggs*, at 529. While conceding that there is no complete catalog to which the court may turn to resolve a particular case, *Heggs*, was quick to note that the standard is intended to

have a "degree of flexibility and discretion." *Id.* at 530. *Heggs* anticipates a course where the court is "drawing new lines" as it "individually determines those errors sufficiently egregious or fundamental to merit the extra review." *Id.* at 529.

As can be seen, the descriptive terms used to define the contours of discretionary second level certiorari review are many and are varied. They include "whether the lower court has exceeded its jurisdiction," "applied the correct law," "essential irregularity in the proceedings," "not observed the requirements of the law essential to the administration of justice," "procedure is illegal, unknown to law or essentially irregular," "violation of a clearly established principle of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice" to name a few. Of the numerous standards, LOT chooses to concentrate solely on one: "gross miscarriage of justice." CITY disagrees that *Heggs*, supra, intended that only one singular, inflexible standard be used to set the contours of second level certiorari review. Instead, CITY contends the proper *Heggs* standard of review for a second level certiorari proceeding on an underlying quasi-judicial decision is much more flexible that than espoused by LOT and requires a district court to exercise a range of discretion in determining which errors are of sufficient magnitude to warrant this additional level of review. CITY contends that the errors before the district court below are sufficiently within that range of discretion intended by *Heggs*, supra.

With the foregoing predicate, we must distinguish the case at bar from the species of cases involving inquiries on a second level certiorari review as to whether the circuit court applied the correct law in its evaluation of whether the lower quasijudicial tribunal had competent substantial evidence upon which to base its decision. *Martin County v. City of Stuart*, 736 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); *City of Dania v. Florida Power & Light*, 718 So.2d 813 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1998) *receded from by Martin County, supra.*; *Manatee County v. Kuehnel*, 542 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984) *review denied* 548 So.2d 663 (Fla. 1989); *St. Johns County v. Owings*, 554 So.2d 535 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), *review denied* 564 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1990).

Although *Heggs* declares the standard of review under *Combs* and *EDC* as "the same," CITY prefers to follow the *Deerfield Beach v. Vaillant, supra*, line of cases where the court articulated the "applied the correct law" standard of review for those cases climbing the appellate ladder from a decision of a quasi-judicial body. This is to be distinguished from the line of cases emanating from a decision of a county court.

Simply, by the time the matter arrives at the district court for a second level certiorari review under a *Combs* analysis, the matter is being judicially scrutinized for the third time, having already received two full judicial reviews by the county

court and the circuit court sitting in its appellate capacity. On the other hand, where the matter flows from a zoning decision of a quasi-judicial tribunal, by the time the matter climbs to the district court, it has only received one judicial review, and in the *Las Olas Tower*, *supra* case here under review that one judicial review was conducted by a single circuit judge sitting in an appellate capacity. We should be mindful of Justice MacDonald's dissent warning of clothing "trial judges with power of absolute czars" in zoning matters, *EDC* at 106 and the need for "flexibility and discretion" in "drawing new lines" in the discretionary second level certiorari review. *Heggs*, at 529. CITY contends that this Court should grant the district court that "flexibility and discretion" in the drawing of lines in the *Las Olas Tower* case here at issue.

2. "Applied the correct law" standard of review.

This Court denied review in *Herrera v. City of Miami*, 600 So.2d 561 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992), *review denied*, 613 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1992) where a parking variance was granted for a 100 unit apartment complex which was a federally sponsored project for the elderly. The circuit court affirmed the granting of the variance. In developing the standard of certiorari review, the district court wrote that merely by incanting the principles of law for variance cases, the matter may not be placed beyond the district court's certiorari review. The test applied was "whether that law

had been correctly applied." *Id.* at 562. The district court found the findings of the circuit court did not satisfy the legal requirements for a variance, granted certiorari and quashed the circuit court's order granting a variance. The application of "applied the correct law" was left undisturbed by this Court. The circuit court's misapplication of law in the *Las Olas Tower* case at bar is violative of much graver essentials of law than found in *Herrera*, *supra* and therefore the district court's scope of review in *Las Olas Tower*, *supra*, should be sustained.

In *Matura v. City of Coral Gables*, 619 So.2d 455 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) the district court utilized the "applied the correct law" standard of review in quashing a circuit court order approving the grant of a zoning variance. In analyzing whether the correct law was applied, the court noted:

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